
1



 

 
 

 
C. Information Technology 

i. Security Cameras in Town Hall – Ordinance 2026-13 
 

D. Planning 
i. Amending Speed limit Chamblee Road – Resolution 2026-09 

 
E. Minutes 

i. August 4, 2025 
ii. September 2, 2025 

iii. September 6, 2025 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Economic and Community Development 

i. Support Award of Building Reuse Grant from the NC Department of Commerce – 
Rural Center – Resolution 2026-10 

B. Planning 
i. Food Truck Ordinance – Ordinance 2026-12 

ii. Social District Discussion 
iii. Public Hearing – 1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road Annexation 

a. Annexation Request for 1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Rd – Ordinance 2026-06 
iv. Planned Development – 1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road – Ordinance 2026-07 
v. Letter of Intent for the Bennett Bunn House 

 
8. OLD BUSINESS 

A. Board Vacancy Appointment 
 

9. MANAGER’S REPORT  
i. Update on Hiring 
ii. Financials Addendum 

 

10. BOARD COMMENTS 
 

11. ADJOURN 



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



 

 

ZEBULON BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 

MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 2, 2025 

Board of Commissioners Present: Mayor Glenn York, Mayor Pro Tem Jessica Harrison, 
Commissioners Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, and Quentin Miles  

Staff Present: Taiwo Jaiyeoba-Interim Town Manager, Dora Moore-Interim Town Clerk, Shannon 
Johnson-Community & Economic Development, Sheila Long-Parks & Recreation, Chris Perry-Fire, 
Matt Lower-Planning, Bob Grossman-Police, Eric Vernon-Town Attorney, Lisa Markland 

Called to Order 

Mayor York called the Board of Commissioners Special Called Meeting to order. 

Mayor York read a statement regarding board commissioner vacancy votes. 

Old Business 

Five County Stadium Discussion 

Community & Economic Development Director Shannon Johnson presented an update and 
recommendation regarding the Five County Stadium Lease. Ms. Johnson shared three proposals 
were received and both the Town and Wake County recommend awarding a 10-year lease to 
Capital Broadcasting Company (CBC).  

- CBC will sublease the stadium to a Coastal Plain League and Wake Technical Community 
College for athletic competitions.  

- CBC will have approved site development plans by end of 2030 or property rights revert 
to the Town & County.  

- Town (15%) and County (85%) will make initial capital project improvements to the 
stadium over two years at a cost of $9 million. This is in addition to the initial $1 million 
capital maintenance fund allocation. Improvements include new synthetic turf, convert 
field to multi-use, upgrade commissary areas, upgrade fan experience areas, new lighting, 
new scoreboard, update office and locker room, and a façade upfit. 

- Town and County will receive a total of 10 free events per year. 
- CBC will receive up to $100,000 incentives annually for additional entertainment events. 
- CBC is responsible for operating expenses and routine maintenance of stadium. 
- CBC will work with Town and County on naming stadium. 

25



 

 

Mayor York noted this has been a long, tedious process. It is hard to say goodbye to the Mudcats 
after 35 years. However, the Town looks forward to welcoming the new tenants and economic 
development around the stadium.   

Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve the terms of the 
lease of Five County Stadium as presented. There was no discussion, and the motion passed 
unanimously. 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to authorize staff to draft 
a lease agreement between the Town of Zebulon, Wake County and Capital Broadcasting 
Company per the agreement presented and approved. There was no discussion, and the motion 
passed unanimously. 

Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to authorize the Town 
Attorney to publish a 30-day notice related to the lease as specified by North Carolina General 
Statue 160A-272 (Lease or Rental of Property). There was no discussion, and the motion passed 
unanimously. 

Taylor Emory was recognized from the office of Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP for his 
guidance in this process. 

Shannon shared next steps that include finalization of any needed budget amendments by Wake 
County and October will be busy finalizing details. A press release will also be issued. 

Manager recognized and welcomed Dora Moore as the Interim Town Clerk. 

Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Harrison to adjourn. There was no 
discussion, and the motion passed unanimously.  

Adopted this the 6th day of October 2025 

 
       __________________________________ 
       Glenn L. York – Mayor 

 
 SEAL 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Dora K. Moore – Interim Town Clerk 

26



 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025 

Board of Commissioners Present: Mayor Glenn York, Mayor Pro Tem Jessica Harrison, 
Commissioners Shannon Baxter, Amber Davis, and Quentin Miles  

Staff Present: Chris Perry – Fire, Dora Moore-Interim Town Clerk, Shannon Johnson-Community 
& Economic Development, Matt Lower-Planning, Tonya Easterwood-Information Technology, 
Rick Fletcher-Public Works, Sam Slater-Town Attorney,  

Called to Order 

Mayor York called the Board of Commissioners Meeting to order. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Commissioner Baxter invited Anna Mitchell to lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Agenda 

Commissioner Harrison requested the items related to the 1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Road 
Annexation be removed from the agenda until October 6.  

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve the agenda 
as amended. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Public Comment 

Jennifer Acevedo-Homes, 3137 Lacewing Drive, and founder, president, and CEO of Community 
Culture Celebrations (C3), provided an update on the Latino festival and Launch Zebulon. 

School Recognition  

Zebulon GT Magnet Elementary 
Commissioner Baxter recognized student, Anna Mitchell and Mayor York recognized teacher, 
Frank Adamkiewicz from Zebulon GT Magnet Elementary.  

 

 

 

27



 

 

Presentations 

Housing Study 
Aaron Finley, TPMA, presented information related to the Town’s housing study and data 
analytics report. Opportunities for community engagement include a community input meeting 
on October 7, a stakeholder workshop on October 9, a public input survey open the month of 
October and stakeholder interviews.  
 
Proclamations 
The Town of Zebulon, led by Commissioner Harrison, officially recognized Mary Ethel Perry for 
her contributions to the community and service to the North Carolina NAACP. 

The Town of Zebulon, led by Commissioner Harrison, officially recognized Bishop John J. 
Mangum for his service to the Town of Zebulon, Wake County and that State of North Carolina. 

SEED Community Foundation 
Karen Farmer, SEED Founder, presented information about the SEED Community Foundation as 
well as their current involvement with local organizations. She expressed a desire for a 
collaboration between the Town, Chamber, businesses and citizens for a community garden. The 
Board thanked Ms. Farmer for her presentation and noted this may be an opportunity of 
collaboration with the Sustainability Board.  

Consent Agenda 

Commissioner Harrison made a motion, second by Commissioner Baxter to approve the consent 
agenda.  

A. Finance 
i. Wake County Tax Report – June 2025 

ii. Appropriation of Insurance Proceeds for Community Park Pavilion Repair – 
Ordinance 2026-08 

B. Planning 
i. Zebulon South Planned Development – Ordinance 2026-09 

There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

New Business 

Fire 

Guaranteed Maximum Pricing (GMP) Acceptance of Fire/EMS Station 
Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to approve the Guaranteed 
Maximum Price (GMP) #1 contract in the amount of $13,930,277.26 with the previously selected 
Construction Manager at Risk, Montieth Construction Corporation, for building construction 

28



 

 

work for the Fire/EMS Station and to authorize the Mayor to execute contract documents with 
Monteith Construction Corporation, establishing the terms, conditions and GMP #1, with said 
contract documents to be reviewed and approved by the Town Attorney. There was no 
discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

The groundbreaking ceremony for the new Fire/EMS Station will be October 1 at 10 AM. 

Wake County Emergency Operations Plan and Mutual Aid Agreement 
Commissioner Davis made a motion, second by Commissioner Miles to approve adoption of the 
Wake County Emergency Operations Plan and authorize the Mayor to sign the document; and to 
approve the adoption of the Wake County Mutual Aid Agreement and authorize the Town 
Manager to sign the agreement. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Planning 
301 Jones Street & 108 Pearces Road Rezoning – Ordinance 2026-10 
Planner Matt Lower presented information regarding the 301 Jone Street and 108 Pearces Road 
rezoning request from R2 to GC, enabling a broad range of commercial uses. The project is 
consistent with Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan and the Planning Board 
unanimously recommended approval.  
 

• Applicant: O’Kane and Associates  
• Property owners: CP Enterprises of NC LLC  
• Property Address: 301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road   
• Acreage: 1.9 Acres 

 
Commissioner Miles made a motion, second by Commissioner Davis to approve Ordinance 2026-
10, finding that the action is reasonable, consistent with the Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land 
Use Plan, and compliant with UDO Section 2.2.25.J, as described in the prepared statement per 
UDO Section 2.2.15.G.3. There was no discussion, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Manager's Report 

Chief Perry provided an update on the following key personnel hirings: 

- Fifty-one applications for the Town Manager position have been received. 
- Interviews for the Police Chief position will be the first week of October. It is hoped this 

position will be in place by the third week of October.  
- Two hundred applications have been received for the Executive Assistant position. 
- Interviews will begin soon for the Communications Manager position.  
- Next steps for the Town Clerk position will be determined soon. Chief Perry thanked Dora 

Moore for serving as Interim Town Clerk. 

Chief Perry shared the financial report with Commissioners.  
 

29



 

 

The Planning Department was recently impersonated when someone requested fees on behalf 
of the Planning Department. A cautionary social media post was released immediately. If 
something does not look right, citizens are encouraged to call Town Hall.  
 
The September 18 work session only has Strategic Planning on the agenda. Commissioner 
consensus was to place this item on the October 16 agenda. 

Board Comments 

Commissioner Davis stated there is a lot of construction in front of the Boys & Girls Club and 
encouraged safety and patience during this time. 

Commissioner Baxter invited citizens to attend upcoming events in Town and reminded about 
the candidate forums September 16 and 30.  

Commissioner Miles expressed his appreciation for the SEED presentation and those in 
attendance. 

Commissioner Harrison thanked staff for their hard work and dedication over the last few months 
to ensure the Town is running at a level of excellence, ensuring the community has what is 
needed and keeping Commissioners informed. 

 
Adopted this the 6th day of October 2025 
 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Glenn L. York – Mayor 
 
 SEAL 
 
       ___________________________________ 
       Dora K. Moore – Interim Town Clerk 

30



 

STAFF REPORT 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 

SUPPORT THE AWARD OF THE BUILDING RESUE GRANT FROM THE 

NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE – RURAL CENTER 

October 6, 2025 
 

 

Topic: Resolution of Support for TNT Development’s Application to the NC Department 
of Commerce Building Reuse Program 

Speaker: Shannon Johnson, Community & Economic Development Director 
From:  Shannon Johnson, Community & Economic Development Director 
Approved by:  Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Town Manager 

 
Executive Summary: 
The Board of Commissioners will consider: 

• Approving a Resolution of Support for TNT Development’s application to the North 
Carolina Department of Commerce’s Building Reuse Program. 

• Committing to act as the local government partner and fulfill the required local match 
obligations, anticipated to range between $5,000 and $10,000, contingent on grant 
award. 

 
Background: 
The Building Reuse Program, administered by the NC Department of Commerce, provides funding 
to support the renovation and expansion of commercial buildings in rural areas to attract or 
retain jobs. Local government partners are required to provide a resolution of support and a 
financial match. 
Project TNT represents a significant opportunity for Zebulon to support private sector 
investment, job creation, and the reuse of commercial property. The company plans to renovate 
and expand a vacant building in town to accommodate its growing business operations. Town 
staff have held multiple meetings with TNT, Wake County Economic Development, EDPNC, and 
the NC Department of Commerce to prepare a competitive application. 
The resolution of support will strengthen the application by demonstrating a unified commitment 
from the Town, and it authorizes the Town to partner in administering the grant if awarded. 

 
Board Goals: 
This action supports the Town’s strategic goals by: 

• Growing Smart by creating a manufacturing business that creates sustainable homes. 
• Small Town Life by revitalizing vacant or underutilized space and stimulating local job 

creation. 

 
Fiscal Impact: 
The required match is expected to be between $5,000 and $10,000. If the grant is awarded, these 
funds will be reallocated as part of the Town’s incentive contribution. No immediate budget 
amendment is necessary; staff will return with a recommendation upon receipt of the award. 

 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280




